
 

1 
 

Committee Administrator: Sarah Lees 
Tel: 01884 234310 

Email: slees@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

Mid Devon District Council 
 

Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee 
 

Tuesday, 5 October 2021 at 7.00 pm 
 
 
PLEASE NOTE:  - this meeting will take place at Phoenix House and 
members of the Public and Press are encouraged to attend via Zoom 
wherever possible. The attached Protocol for Hybrid Meetings explains 
how this will work. Please do not attend Phoenix House without 
contacting the committee clerk in advance, in order that numbers of 
people can be appropriately managed in physical meeting rooms.  

 
Join Zoom Meeting 
 
https://zoom.us/j/99827756833?pwd=S0xaUFNVMTdoTFA1aWdlRVlEVmxHUT
09 
 
Meeting ID: 998 2775 6833 
Passcode: 303253 
 
One tap mobile 
08003582817,,99827756833#,,,,*303253# United Kingdom Toll-free 
08000315717,,99827756833#,,,,*303253# United Kingdom Toll-free 
 
Dial by your location 
        0 800 358 2817 United Kingdom Toll-free 
        0 800 031 5717 United Kingdom Toll-free 
        0 800 260 5801 United Kingdom Toll-free  
 
Meeting ID: 998 2775 6833 
Passcode: 303253 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
 
1   Election of Chairman   

To elect a Chairman for 2021/2022 (the Terms of Reference state that 
the appointment should be made from the Mid Devon District Council 
representation for 2020/2021). 
 

2   Election of Vice Chairman   
To elect a Vice Chairman for 2021/2022 (the Terms of Reference state 
that this appointment should come from the Devon County Council 
representation for 2021/2022). 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/
https://zoom.us/j/99827756833?pwd=S0xaUFNVMTdoTFA1aWdlRVlEVmxHUT09
https://zoom.us/j/99827756833?pwd=S0xaUFNVMTdoTFA1aWdlRVlEVmxHUT09


 

2 
 

Committee Administrator: Sarah Lees 
Tel: 01884 234310 

Email: slees@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

3   Apologies   
To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

4   Protocol for remote meetings  (Pages 5 - 12) 
To note the protocol for remote meetings. 
 

5   Public Question Time   
To receive any questions relating to items on the agenda from the public 
and replies thereto. 
 

6   Minutes  (Pages 13 - 18) 
Members to consider whether to approve the minutes as a correct 
record of the meeting held on 2nd March 2021. 
 

7   Matters Arising   
To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the last meeting. 
 

8   Chairman's Announcements   
To receive any announcements that the Chairman may wish to make. 
 

9   Terms of Reference and membership review  (Pages 19 - 22) 
To consider and approve the Terms of Reference and membership of 
the Committee for 2021/2022 (please find attached). 
 

10   Progress Report  (Pages 23 - 40) 
To receive a report summarising the work that has taken place with 
regard to the canal since the last meeting. 
 

11   Water transfer system from Fenacre Brook to the Canal   
To receive an update in relation to the water transfer system from 
Fenacroe Brook to the Canal. Committee to discuss. 
 

12   Anaerobic Digestor at Crownhill   
To discuss concerns and raise issues in relation to the AD plant at 
Crown Hill, Tiverton. 
 

13   Community Patrol Boat update   
To receive a verbal update from on the activities of the Community 
Patrol Boat since the last meeting. 
 

14   Any other business   
To consider any other relevant business. 
 

15   Identification of items for the next meeting   
To identify any issues for discussion at the next meeting. 
 

16   Date of next meeting   
To agree the date of the next meeting as Tuesday 1st March 2022 at 
7pm. 
 

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/


 

3 
 

Committee Administrator: Sarah Lees 
Tel: 01884 234310 

Email: slees@middevon.gov.uk 
This document is available on the Council's Website at: www.middevon.gov.uk 

 
 

Stephen Walford 
Chief Executive 

Monday 27 September 2021 
 

 
 
Covid-19 and meetings  
 
From 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold formal meetings in 
person. However, the Council is also required to follow government guidance 
about safety during the pandemic. The Council will enable all people to continue 
to participate in meetings via Zoom.  
 
You are strongly encouraged to participate via Zoom to keep everyone safe - 
there is limited capacity in meeting rooms if safety requirements are to be met. 
There are restrictions and conditions which apply to those in the building and 
the use of the building. You must not attend a meeting at Phoenix House 
without complying with the requirements in the new protocol for meetings. You 
must follow any directions you are given.  
 
Please read the new meeting protocol which is available here: Hybrid Protocol - 
September 2021.pdf (middevon.gov.uk) 
 
If you want to ask a question or speak, email your full name to 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk by no later than 4pm on the day before the 
meeting. This will ensure that your name is on the list to speak and will help us 
ensure that you are not missed – as you can imagine, it is easier to see and 
manage public speaking when everyone is physically present in the same room. 
Notification in this way will ensure the meeting runs as smoothly as possible. 
 
If you would like a copy of the Agenda in another format (for example in large 
print) please contact Sarah Lees on: 
E-Mail: slees@middevon.gov.uk 
  
 
Public Wi-Fi is available in all meeting rooms. 
 
 

http://www.middevon.gov.uk/
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/documents/s22797/Hybrid%20Protocol%20-%20September%202021.pdf
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/documents/s22797/Hybrid%20Protocol%20-%20September%202021.pdf
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:slees@middevon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1  

The primary objective is to ensure that meetings can continue as safely as possible 
and that the rights of Members and the Public are not diminished simply because 
the meeting is being held through a mix of online and face-to-face means. The 
Chairman will retain control and discretion over the conduct of the meeting and the 
Zoom host will provide administrative support to facilitate the meeting. 
 

Please note that, exceptionally, meeting arrangements may change – in response 
to legislation, court decisions, or risk. This may include a meeting being 
postponed, or the hybrid arrangements changing or being withdrawn. We ask that 
you check the arrangements in advance of joining or attending the meeting. 

Mid Devon District Council – Hybrid Meeting Protocol 
 

1. Introduction 
 

Remote meetings via Zoom have been used during the Covid-19 pandemic in 
accordance with the temporary legislation. That legislation ceases to apply from 
7 May 2021. However, Covid-19 legislation and guidance continues in place and 
this places specific requirements for meetings in relation to health and safety, risk 
assessments and related matters. 

 
The Council has therefore put in place temporary arrangements which will enable 
meetings to take place in compliance with legislation, whilst providing alternative 
participation opportunities to maintain a Covid-19 safe environment. All are asked 
to remember that the Council’s offices at Phoenix House are not just meeting 
rooms – they are the place of employment for many and there are implications 
beyond just how the meetings are held. 

 
The arrangements set out in this Protocol will apply to meetings from 7 May 2021 
until further notice. At the date of this Protocol, it is expected that arrangements 
may change later this year – because the Government may change the law, the 
Covid- 19 pandemic may have further receded and/or the Council makes 
alternative arrangements. 

 
2. Hybrid arrangements – how will they work? 

 

(a) Members (councillors) entitled to vote 
 

All Members entitled to vote in a meeting must be present in the same room – if 
they are to be classed as ‘present’ (count towards the quorum) and to cast a vote. 
If a Member entitled to vote is not in the room, they may still participate via Zoom 
(see below), but they will not be present (quorum) nor be able to vote. 

 
(b) Other Members, Officers and the Public 

 
The Council will use Zoom to enable all other Members, officers and the Public to 
attend and participate in meetings safely. Zoom will be enabled in all public 
meetings. Those attending the meeting physically will be able to see and hear 
Zoom participants via the existing large TV/monitor screens in the meeting rooms. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2  

Those on Zoom will be able to hear Members in the room and see them – although 
this will be a whole room view and there will be no zooming in on individual 
members. It is essential therefore those Members present in the room use the 
microphones at all times and identify themselves before speaking. 

 
There will be some Officers in the room – the Committee Administrator, the Zoom 
host and, at times, an additional support officer. There may also be a meeting 
room host to manage the safety of the meeting. All other Officers should use 
Zoom, unless they are specifically invited into the room by the Chairman of the 
meeting. 

 
3. Zoom 

 
Zoom is the system the Council will be using for those attending Hybrid meetings 
remotely. It has functionality for audio, video, and screen sharing and you do not 
need to be a member of the Council or have a Zoom account to join a Zoom 
meeting. 

 
4. Access to documents 

 
Member Services will publish the agenda and reports for committee meetings on 
the Council’s website in line with usual practice. Paper copies of agendas will only 
be made available to those who have previously requested this and also the Chair 
of a meeting. 

 
If any other Member wishes to have a paper copy, they must notify Member 
Services before the agenda is published, so they can arrange to post directly – it 
may take longer to organise printing, so as much notice as possible is appreciated. 

 
The Public should continue to access agendas via the Council’s website - and are 
encouraged to do so even after the offices at Phoenix House are fully open 
again. 

 
5. Setting up the Meeting for Zoom attendance 

 

This will be done by Member Services. They will send a meeting request via 
Outlook which will appear in Members’ Outlook calendar. Members and Officers 
will receive a URL link to click on to join the meeting. The Public will use the Zoom 
details on the front of the agenda. The telephone dial-in via Zoom will also be 
available. 

 
6. Public Access and Participation 

 
(a) Public Access: 

 
Members of the Public will be able to use a web link and standard internet browser. 
This will be displayed on the front of the agenda. Members of the Public should 
attend a meeting via Zoom, unless there are circumstances justifying      attendance 
in person. 

Page 6



3  

If any member of the Public still wishes to attend in person, they must notify 
Member Services at least 3 working days before the meeting. Notifications 
must be sent by email to: 

 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk 

 
Day of meeting Notice given by 

Monday Previous Wednesday 

Tuesday Previous Thursday 

Wednesday Previous Friday 

Thursday Monday 

Friday Tuesday 

 

This will ensure that the meeting rooms do not become overcrowded. 
 

(b) Public Participation (speaking): 
 

Public questions will continue in line with the Council’s current arrangements as 
far as is practicable. However, to ensure that the meeting runs smoothly and that 
no member of the public is missed, all those who wish to speak must register by 
4pm on the day before the meeting. They should email their full name to 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk. If they wish to circulate their question in advance, 
that would be helpful. 

 
At public question time, the Chair will ask each registered person to speak at the 
appropriate time. In the normal way, the public should state their full name, the 
agenda item they wish to speak to before they proceed with their question. Unless 
they have registered, a member of the public may not be called to speak, except 
at the discretion of the Chairman. 

 
If a member of the public wishes to ask a question but cannot attend the meeting 
for whatever reason, there is nothing to prevent them from emailing members of 
the Committee with their question, views or concern in advance. However, if they 
do so, it would be helpful if a copy could be sent to Committee@middevon.gov.uk 
as well. 

 
7. Arrangements for any person attending meetings at Phoenix House 

 
Anyone attending a meeting in person must observe the following requirements: 

 
(a) For non-voting members, officers and the Public – are there exceptional 

circumstances to justify attending? If so, please notify in advance and 
in paragraph 6 above. It is essential that the Council knows who is 
attending and how many will be in the room.

Page 7

mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk


4  

(b) Do not attend if you: have any symptoms of Covid-19; are self-isolating 
(with or without a positive Covid-19 test); or are in a period of post-travel 
quarantine. 

 
(c) Use the hand sanitiser which is available in the building. 

 
(d) Follow the directions for entering, moving around and exiting the 

building. Follow the instructions of any Officer present to manage the 
safety of the meeting and/or the Chairman. 

 
(e) Sign into the meeting if requested to do so – you may be asked to leave 

contact details 
 

(f) Enter and leave the building promptly – do not gather inside after the 
meeting has finished, or during any break in the meeting 

 
(g) Bring your own water/refreshments, as these will not be available for the 

time being. 
 

8. Starting the Meeting 
 

At the start of the meeting, the Member Services Officer will check all required 
attendees are present and that there is a quorum. If there is no quorum, the 
meeting will be adjourned. This applies if, during the meeting, it becomes inquorate 
for whatever reason. 

 
The Chair will remind all Members, Officers and the Public attending via Zoom that 
all microphones must be muted, unless and until they are speaking. This 
prevents background noise, coughing etc. which is intrusive and disruptive during 
the meeting. The Hosting Officer will enforce this and will be able to turn off 
participant mics when they are not in use. 

 
9. Declaration of Interests 

 
Members should declare their interests in the usual way. A Member with a 
disclosable pecuniary interest is required to the leave the room. If they are 
attending via Zoom, they will be moved to the waiting room for the duration of the 
item. 

 
10. The Meeting and Debate 

 
(a) For Members and Officers physically present 

Each member should raise their hand to indicate a request to speak. When called, 
they must identify themselves for the recording and for the benefit of those 
attending via Zoom. The microphone must be used when speaking – standing will 
make it difficult for those on Zoom to hear and is discouraged, including at 
meetings of Full Council. 

 
(b) For any person attending via Zoom 

 
The Council will not be using the Chat function. The Chairman will call speakers 

Page 8



5  

in accordance with the usual rules i.e. either at Public Question Time, or for 
Members and Officers, when they raise their Zoom hand to speak. 

 
No decision or outcome will be invalidated by a failure of the Chair to call a member 
to speak – remote management of meetings is intensive and the Hybrid 
arrangements are likely to be more so. It is reasonable to expect that some 
requests will be inadvertently missed from time to time. 

 
When referring to reports or making specific comments, Members and Officers 
should refer to the report and page number whenever possible. This will help all 
present or in attendance to have a clear understanding of what is being discussed. 

 
11. Voting 

 
Voting for meetings in person is normally through a show of hands. The Member 
Services Officer will announce the numerical result of the vote for the benefit of 
those attending via Zoom. 

 
12. Meeting Etiquette Reminder for Zoom attendees 

 

 Mute your microphone – you will still be able to hear what is being said. 

 Only speak when invited to do so by the Chair. 

 Speak clearly and please state your name each time you speak 

 If you’re referring to a specific page, mention the page number. 
 

13. Part 2 Reports and Debate 
 

There are times when council meetings are not open to the public, when 
confidential, or “exempt” issues – as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 – are under consideration. 

 
If there are members of the public and press attending the meeting, then the 
Member Services Officer will, at the appropriate time, remove them to a waiting 
room for the duration of that item. They can then be invited back in when the 
business returns to Part 1. 

 

Please turn off smart speakers such as Amazon Echo (Alexa), Google Home or 
smart music devices. These could inadvertently record phone or video 
conversations, which would not be appropriate during the consideration of 
confidential items. 

14. Interpretation of standing orders 
 

Where the Chairman is required to interpret the Council’s Constitution and 
procedural rules and how they apply to remote attendance, they may take advice 
from the Member Services Officer or Monitoring Officer prior to making a ruling. 
However, the Chair’s decision shall be final. 

 
 
 

15. Disorderly Conduct by Members 
 

Page 9



6  

If a Member behaves in the manner as outlined in the Constitution (persistently 
ignoring or disobeying the ruling of the Chair or behaving irregularly, improperly or 
offensively or deliberately obstructs the business of the meeting), any other 
Member may move 'That the member named be not further heard' which, if 
seconded, must be put to the vote without discussion. 

 
If the same behaviour persists and a Motion is approved 'that the member named 
do leave the meeting', then (if attending via Zoom) they will be removed as a 
participant by the Member Services Officer. 

 
16. Disturbance from Members of the Public 

 
If any member of the public interrupts a meeting the Chairman will warn them 
accordingly. If that person continues to interrupt or disrupt proceedings the 
Chairman may ask the Member Services Officer to remove them as a participant 
from the meeting. 

 
17. Technical issues – meeting management 

 
If the Chairman, the Hosting Officer or the Member Services Officer identifies a 
problem with the systems from the Council’s side, the Chairman should either 
declare a recess while the fault is addressed or, if the fault is minor (e.g. unable to 
bring up a presentation), it may be appropriate to move onto the next item of 
business in order to progress through the agenda. If it is not possible to address 
the fault, the meeting will be adjourned until such time as it can be reconvened. 

 
If the meeting was due to determine an urgent matter and it has not been possible 
to continue because of technical difficulties, the Chief Executive, Leader and 
relevant Cabinet Member, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, shall explore 
such other means of taking the decision as may be permitted by the Council’s 
constitution. 

 
Where any Member, Officer or the Public experience their own technical problems 
during the course of a meeting e.g. through internet connectivity or otherwise, the 
meeting will not be automatically suspended or adjourned. 

 

18. Technical issues – Individual Responsibility (Members and Officers) 
 

Many members, officers and the Public live in places where broadband speeds 
are poor, but technical issues can arise at any time for a number of reasons. The 
following guidelines, if followed, should help reduce disruption. 

 

 Join public Zoom meetings by telephone if there is a problem with the 
internet. Before all meetings, note down or take a photograph of the front 
page of the agenda which has the necessary telephone numbers. Annex 1 
to this protocol contains a brief step-by-step guide to what to expect 

 

 Consider an alternative location from which to join the meeting, but staying 
safe and keeping confidential information secure. For officers, this may 
mean considering whether to come into the office, subject to this being safe 
and practicable (childcare etc.) 

Page 10



7  

 

 Have to hand the telephone number of someone attending the meeting – 
and contact them if necessary to explain the problem in connecting 

 

 Officers should have an ‘understudy’ or deputy briefed and on standby to 
attend and present as needed (and their telephone numbers to hand) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



8  

Annex 1 
 

Phone only access to zoom meetings 
 

(Before you start make sure you know the Meeting ID and the Meeting 
Password) – Both of these are available on the agenda for the meeting 

 
Call the toll free number either on the meeting agenda or on the Outlook 
appointment (this will start with 0800 -------- ) 

 
(Ensure your phone is on ‘speaker’ if you can) 

 

A message will sound saying “Welcome to Zoom, enter your meeting ID followed 
by the hash button” 

 

 Enter Meeting ID followed by # 

 

Wait for next message which will say “If you are a participant, please press hash 
to continue” 

 

 Press # 

Wait for next message which will say “Enter Meeting Password followed by hash” 

 

 Enter 6 digit Meeting Password followed by # 

 
Wait for the following two messages: 

 

“You are currently being held in a waiting room, the Host will release you from 
‘hold’ in a minute” 

 
Wait…… 

 

“You have now entered the meeting” 
 

Important notes for participating in meetings 
 

Press *6 to toggle between ‘mute’ and ‘unmute’ (you should always ensure you 
are muted until you are called upon to speak) 

 

If you wish to speak you can ‘raise your hand’ by pressing *9. Wait for the 
Chairman to call you to speak. The Host will lower your hand after you have 
spoken. Make sure you mute yourself afterwards. 

Page 12



 

Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 2 March 2021 10 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the GRAND WESTERN CANAL JOINT ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE held on 2 March 2021 at 7.00 pm 
 
  
JAC Members Present: 
 
Cllr C R Slade   Devon County Council (Chairman) 
Cllr R Croad    Devon County Council 
Cllr R F Radford   Mid Devon District Council  
Cllr L Cruwys    Mid Devon District Council 
Cllr Mrs C Collis   Mid Devon District Council 
Cllr Mrs C P Daw   Mid Devon District Council 
Cllr Mrs S Griggs   Mid Devon District Council 
Cllr K Browse   Halberton Parish Council 
Cllr D Cutts    Sandford Peverell Parish Council 
Cllr J R Rendle   Tiverton Town Council 
Mr P Brind    The Tiverton Canal Company 
Mrs Pat Brind   Mid Devon Moorings 
Mr R Hodgson   Friends of the Grand Western Canal 
Mr A Pilgrim    Holcombe Rogus Parish Council 
Mrs J Pilgrim    Inland Waterways Association 
Mr P Saupe    Tiverton Unit Sea Cadets 
Mr M Trump    Tiverton and District Angling Club 
Mr J Hampshire   Cycling UK 
Mr Trevor White   Friends of the Grand Western Canal 
Mr Ray Jones   Devon Bird Watching and Preservation 
Society 
 
Others Present:    
 
Cllr R J Dolley   Mid Devon District Council 
 
Officers: 
Mr M Baker    Canal Manager, DCC 
Mrs R Mills    Rights of Way and Country Parks Manager, 
DCC 
Mr S Densham   Land Management Officer, MDDC 
Mrs S Lees    Member Services Officer, MDDC 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

19 APOLOGIES  
 
Apologies were received from the following members of the Committee: 
 

 Mr Graham Moore – Canal Businesses Group 

 Mr Dion Howells – Community Patrol Boat 

 Cllr Jo Norton – MDDC, Canonsleigh Ward 

 Cllr Luke Trevelyan – Burlescombe Parish Council 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 

Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 2 March 2021 11 

 
20 PROTOCOL FOR REMOTE MEETINGS  

 
The protocol for remote meetings was NOTED. 
 

21 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  
 
The Chairman read out a question on behalf of Mr Stephen Pugh: 
 
“Regarding the minutes of 6/10/20 item 10 Tidcombe Hall…..the Committee resolved 
to object to the planning application in the strongest possible terms.  
 
These were published on 6/11/20. 
 
The agent responded to these points/published on 18/1/21. 
 
My Question 
 
Will the GWCJAC be replying to that document?” 
 
The Chairman stated that this would be considered during the ‘Minutes of the 
previous meeting’ item. 
 
Michelle White had sent in the following question which was again read out by the 
Chairman: 
 
We are a family of 4 living in Halberton and we love the canal. We are keen paddle 
boarders and we own a canoe, so we can all enjoy the canal together. Currently the 
fees for doing so would be £200 per year, which I believe is unnecessary and unfair 
for families living in the local area. We have spoken to other families in the area who 
have similar views. Also I don't understand how the current fee is justified? 
Respectful paddle boarders, especially locals, have minimal impact on the canal, you 
could argue less than walkers or bike riders. I understand fees can be helpful in the 
maintenance of the canal and we would be happy to pay a small fee, such as £10 per 
board per year, and then hopefully more people will be prepared to pay the fee, 
bringing in more of an income.  

  
The Canal Manager stated that the level of fees for unpowered boats had been 
agreed by a JAC working group back in 2010 and they had not been increased since 
then. They had looked at the level of fees charged by other venues offering water 
sports and the fees had been pitched at a similar level to those. Rather than the fees 
putting people off, there had been an increase in the number of people wishing to 
use unpowered craft on the canal. However, there was a need to review the boat 
permit system this year and consideration would be given for increasing the discount 
for families and individuals with multiple boats. 
 

22 MINUTES  
 
The minutes from the meeting held on 6 October 2020, having been previously 
circulated, were approved as a correct record. 
 
 

Page 14



 

Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 2 March 2021 12 

23 MATTERS ARISING  
 
In response to the question posed during Public Question Time the Chairman stated 
that as a Committee the JAC had strongly objected to the Tidcombe Hall planning 
application and had posed searching questions to the agent. He asked whether there 
was anything more the Committee could do? It was reported that the agent had been 
dismissive in his or her reply, none of the reply had been constructive and that there 
was little more that could be done. During further discussion of this matter it was felt 
that the agent had not taken into account the relevant knowledge of particular 
Committee members who fully understood the structure of the canal and the effect 
upon it of potential development adjacent to it. It was confirmed that a large number 
of objections had been made to the application and it would be for the Planning 
Committee of Mid Devon District Council to determine. 
 
It was AGREED that rather than write again to the applicant or agent the Committee  
would send a letter to the relevant Planning Officer stating its strong objections again 
and reiterating the comments made during the meeting tonight. 
 

24 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman had the following announcements to make: 
 

1. He informed the Committee that Cllr Luke Trevelyan would be the 
representative from Burlescombe Parish Council on the Committee going 
forwards. 
 

2. He thanked the Canal Manager and his team for keeping the canal open 
during the winter months and whilst under Covid restrictions. It had been very 
busy with local people using it for their daily exercise. 

 
25 PROGRESS REPORT  

 
The Canal Manager stated that there were a number of things to update the 
Committee on since the publication of the report and agenda: 
 

a. Tree felling works were currently being undertaken due to Ash dieback at 
Battens Bridge. Approximately 50 trees were to be felled where the road ran 
parallel to the canal. 

b. Four trees had been planted in memory of Miss Jean Hall and Miss Joy 
Yeates and a ceremony would be held in the spring once Covid restrictions 
allow this. 

c. Towpath resurfacing work was due to take place underneath five bridges in 
the next four weeks. 

d. With regard to the issue of swans flying into powerlines in the Canal Basin, 
Western Power Distribution have provided dates in mid-April when they plan 
to bundle multiple lines up into one thick line to reduce the possibility of any 
further incidents occurring. 

e. The contractor is due to be back in April to rectify faults with the aqueduct 
relining. 

 
 
 

Page 15



 

Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 2 March 2021 13 

26 REVIEW ACTION PLAN TARGETS IN THE CANAL MANAGEMENT PLAN  
 
The Canal Manager informed the Committee that there would be an annual review of 
action plan targets and it would receive a report each March. The format and content 
of the report was briefly outlined with the Committee being informed that there had 
been good progress on the majority of the targets despite Covid. 
 
Discussion took place regarding: 
 

 There appeared to be little reference to gate or boundary arrangements on 
offsite land within the management plan. It had been observed that a number 
of constructions had appeared with some people extending their gardens 
thereby encroaching onto canal land. The Canal Manager explained that the 
majority of adjacent residents along the offside banks had a Garden 
Agreement which was a legal agreement for use of the land and for which 
there was an annual charge. Those with landing stages had had discussions 
with the Canal Manager about the design and materials prior to their 
construction. A number of properties adjacent to the towpath on the 
Glebelands estate own the land right up to the towpath and so DCC has no 
control over the management of the hedges or fences on those boundaries, 
but will ensure that hedge growth does not encroach on the towpath. 

 Management of the flower bed at the entrance to the Canal Basin car park and 
the creation of new wildflower meadows near Bamfylde Close, Ebear Bridge 
and at the Sampford Peverell picnic site. 

 The toilets at the Canal Basin being vandalised recently with bottles being 
smashed on a number of occasions. 

 Dog fouling and whether or not there were enough bins. It was MDDC’s 
responsibility to empty the bins, but they would only do this at vehicle access 
points. The Canal Manager felt there were enough bins, with them being 
located at all the main access points, but that unfortunately a minority of dog 
owners regularly fail to pick up after their dog.  

 
27 COMMUNITY PATROL BOAT VERBAL UPDATE  

 
Mr Dion Howell, the operator of the Community Patrol Boat had sent apologies to the 
meeting therefore an update would be provided at the next meeting. 
 

28 COMMUNITY PATROL BOAT - TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, the draft Terms of Reference for the 
Community Patrol Boat. 
 
The Canal Manager explained that it had been an action from the last JAC meeting 
that a set of draft Terms of Reference be drawn up by a small working group and 
brought back to the Committee for consideration and comment. The working group 
had met in January and considered all relevant factors. 
 
The following comments were made: 
 

 Lighting requirements for use of the boat at night. However, it was felt that 
details such as this would be better placed in a risk assessment rather than 
the terms of reference. 

Page 16



 

Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 2 March 2021 14 

 The level of qualification needed by the skipper and whether that outlined in 
the draft TOR was a bit excessive? It was explained that the current skipper 
already held these qualifications, but it would be possible to look at more 
appropriate qualifications going forwards. 

 Whether the wording in section 10 was appropriate with regard to ‘cycling 
under bridges being prohibited’.  

 
29 CANAL USE DURING COVID RESTRICTIONS (ADAM PILGRIM)  

 
Mr Adam Pilgrim had requested that the following question be put before the 
Committee: 
 
Why are Grand Western Canal users such as canoeists and paddle-boarders 
allowed to use the canal during the Covid restrictions but motorised boat users are 
not?" 
 
In considering the question the following issues were raised: 
 

 The difficulties in interpreting changing Government guidelines during the 
pandemic. Exercise was allowed during the lockdown and the interpretation of 
the rules within the waterways sector was that this did not include recreational 
boating, but did include canoeing and kayaking. 

 It had originally been thought that fishing would be prohibited but the Angling 
Trust had successfully lobbied Government and so angling has been allowed. 

 
30 TOURISM GROUP-  VERBAL UPDATE  

 
Cllr Mrs Sue Griggs had been tasked at the previous meeting to talk to the 
appropriate officer at MDDC with responsibility for tourism to set up an informal 
working group with a view to doing all that was necessary to promote the canal 
further. 
 
Cllr Mrs Griggs explained that she had met with the relevant officers and had 
reached an agreement whereby as soon as Covid restrictions were lifted they would 
be moving forwards with this by looking at such issues as signage and hospitality and 
tourism websites. It was also noted that the canal had been extremely well used 
during the pandemic. A lot was also being done through Facebook to promote the 
canal as well as the ‘Visit Mid Devon’ website. Despite this, there was still a lot more 
that could be done and Mr Phil Brind requested that he be included in any future 
meetings discussing this issue. 
 
A concern was raised about what appeared to be diminishing facilities for visiting 
boaters, for example, a shortage of trailer storage and lack of water supplies at 
Minnows. It was becoming more difficult to promote the canal within the trail-boating 
community.  
  

31 ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
The following matters were raised under this item: 
 

 Mrs Ros Mills informed the Committee that she would be taking early 
retirement and leaving in May. She stated that it had been a pleasure working 

Page 17



 

Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee – 2 March 2021 15 

with the JAC and thanked members for all they do to support the Canal and 
the Ranger Team; there had been some interesting times such as meeting up 
with various members in the middle of the night when the breach occurred! 
The Chairman thanked Mrs Mills for her valuable contribution to the JAC and 
wished her well. The comment was made that Mrs Mills would be taking a lot 
of expertise and knowledge with her. 

 The question was asked as to whether there had been any progress regarding 
the water management system at Westleigh quarry? It was explained that 
progress had been delayed due to Covid and that recent discussions with 
Aggregate Industries have been positive, and they are being proactive in 
allocating resources to push this matter forward. The main issue had centred 
around an application for water abstraction nearing its expiry date. This had 
meant that the Environment Agency had insisted that a new application was 
needed, however, communication with the EA had been limited and progress 
was taking a lot longer than expected. It was felt to be vital for the JAC to keep 
a watchful eye on this issue and strong concerns was expressed that no 
progress was being made. 

 
32 IDENTIFICATION OF ITEMS FOR THE NEXT MEETING  

 
Additional items for the agenda (other than those which usually came) were identified 
as follows: 
 

 Update on the Fenacre Water System and in particular the Environment 
Agency and Aggregate Industries situation. 

 Ideas for how Iona, the horse drawn barge, could be used to best effect within 
the Canal Basin.  

 
It was also requested that a summer site visit by Committee members take place if 
and when Covid restrictions were lifted. 
 
 

33 DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING  
 
It was AGREED that the date of the next meeting would be Tuesday 5th October 
2021 at 7pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 8.15 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 18



 

Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee 
 

TERMS OF UNDERSTANDING 
 

Introduction 
 
The Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee (GWCJAC) supports and 
encourages an active partnership between all the bodies involved in and co-
ordinating management across all activities of the Grand Western Canal (GWC).  
The management of the GWC is co-ordinated by the Public Rights of Way and 
Country Parks Manager on behalf of Devon County Council. 
 
The Joint Advisory Committee represents the main mechanism for the co-ordination 
of advice and the collation of local views relating to the management and 
maintenance of the canal. 
 
The aim of the County Council is “to conserve for the future the integrity of the Grand 
Western Canal in its setting as a wildlife, historic, recreation and education resource”.   
 
The principle functions of the GWCJAC are to: 
 

 Promote and act as champion for the canal; 

 Support the aims of the County Council for the GWC which are to: 
o Preserve and maintain the canal as a civil engineering asset; 
o Develop, conserve and interpret the biodiversity in the surrounding 

area; 
o Promote the canal for amongst other things – tourism purposes. 

 Provide a forum for discussion and information exchange between the 
different interested parties; 

 Provide advice for the County Council on issues of management of the GWC 
 
This will be achieved through providing advice: 
 

 To assist the implementation of the Management that supports the County 
Council’s aims for the GWC; 

 To inform a review of the Management Plan at appropriate intervals; 

 To permit the monitoring of the success and achievement of the GWC Team 
and the use of the Canal; 

 To inform the County Council on the impacts of existing or proposed uses of 
the Canal; 

 To inform the commissioning of special studies of issues if necessary, utilising 
appropriate forums; 

 To inform the local planning authorities about developments which are likely 
to affect significantly the GWC, its environs and landscape character; 

 On the likely resources necessary for effective management;  

 On the dissemination of information and by undertaking this through 
appropriate organisations; 

 On the accommodation of new requirements due to changes in legislation 
affecting the GWC. 

 
It should be noted that the GWCJAC does not have executive powers over the 
funding partners, but acts in an advisory and consultative capacity to the funding 
partners and others as required. 
 
 

 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 9



 

TERMS OF UNDERSTANDING 
 

 The GWCJAC will meet twice a year; 
 

 The Chairman and Vice Chairman will be elected annually; 
 

 The position of Chairman and Vice Chairman will rotate between the main 
funding partners of Mid Devon District Council and Devon County Council; 

 

 The secretariat for the GWCJAC will be Mid Devon District Council and the 
Committee will be run under MDDC standing orders; 

 

 The GWCJAC will be considered quorate when eight representatives are 
present of whom 3 should be County or District Councillors with 1 being a 
County Councillor; 

 

 Representatives will be expected to attend all meetings or to send a suitable 
replacement with prior notice; 

 

 If a representative fails to attend two GWCJAC meetings within the year, 
without reasonable cause, then their eligibility to attend any future meetings 
will be terminated with immediate effect; 

 

 Meetings will be open to the press and public with opportunities for the items 
to be brought in by the public for part of the meeting with prior notice; 

 

 Suggested agenda items and questions should be presented 3 weeks before 
any meeting; 

 

 Press and publicity must be channelled through Devon Media Services 
having initially been authorised by the Chairman or Vice Chairman or the 
Public Rights of Way & Country Parks Manager; 

 

 The membership of the GWCJAC will be reviewed once during each financial 
year to ensure there is a wide and balanced representation of canal interests; 

 

 New members may be co-opted onto the GWCJAC with the agreement of the 
GWCJAC following a presentation to the Committee outlining the reasons 
why they should have representation; 

 

 These Terms of Understanding will be reviewed by the GWCJAC following 
the agreement of the Chairman with recommendations for change being 
made to the funding partners; 

 

 All organisations will have equal voting rights should the occasion dictate, 
with the Chairman having the casting vote; 

 

 The GWCJAC will report to the Cabinet Member for Climate Change, 
Environment and Transport who will be the County Council’s representative 
on the advisory committee. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 20



 

GRAND WESTERN CANAL JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Group Represented Votes 

Members  

Devon County Council  - Cabinet Member for Climate Change, Environment and Transport 1 

Devon County Council – Member for Tiverton East 1 

Devon County Council – Member for Willand and Uffculme 1 

Mid Devon District Council – Portfolio Holder for Environment  1 

Mid Devon District Council – Members for Cranmore (3 councillors) 3 

Mid Devon District Council – Member for Halberton 1 

Mid Devon District Council – Members for Canonsleigh (2 councillors) 2 

Tiverton Town Council 1 

Halberton Parish Council 1 

Sampford Peverell Parish Council 1 

Burlescombe Parish Council  1 

Holcombe Rogus Parish Council 1 

Friends of the Grand Western Canal 1 

Devon Wildlife Trust 1 

Wildlife Advisory Group 1 

Inland Waterways Association 1 

Tiverton and District Angling Club 1 

Devon Bird Watching and Preservation Society  1 

Tiverton Sea Cadets 1 

Cycling UK 1 

The Tiverton Canal Company 1 

Mid Devon Moorings 1 

Canal Businesses Group 1 

Community Patrol Boat 1 

Officers  

Devon County Council – Public Rights of Way and Country Parks Manager  
 

0 

Devon County Council – Country Park Manager  0 

Mid Devon District Council – Land Management Officer 0 

Mid Devon District Council – Member Services Officer 0 

Total 27 

 

 

Page 21



 

Each organisation may register a deputy to be their representative, which must be 
approved by the GWJAC in advance. 
 
The GWCJAC will be advised by the Public Rights of Way and Country Parks 
Manager and Country Park Manager and other officers as required. 
 
We endorse the above Terms of Understanding for the GWCJAC and hereby agree 
to represent, to the best of our ability, the interests of the GWC.  We understand our 
role is to act as an ambassador for the GWCJAC and further its aim to conserve, for 
the future, the integrity of the Grand Western Canal in its setting as a wildlife, historic, 
recreation and education resource and to be supportive of sustainable economic 
activity and tourism in the area. 

 
Organisation………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
Named 
representative…………………………………………………………………………………………. 
 
Position………………………………………………………….. 
 
Date……………………………………………………………… 
 
Signature………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Contact Details 
 
Address…………………………………………………………………………………………………
………... 
 
Tel………………………………………………………………Fax……………………………………
……….. 
 
Email…………………………………………………………. 
 
Named 
Deputy……………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
Date…………………………………………………………. 
 
Signature……………………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
Contact 
Details………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
Address………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
Tel……………………………………………………………   
Fax……………………………………………… 
 
Email……………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

Page 22



Grand Western Canal Joint Advisory Committee 
5th October 2021 

 
Progress Report (March 2021 – mid-September 2021 inclusive) 
 

1. Covid 19 
 
Covid restrictions remained in place through the first part of this reporting period, during 
which time the Visitor Centre remained closed, and the Tiverton Canal Co were unable to 
operate.  The Country Park remained exceptionally busy highlighting the importance of the 
site in providing recreational opportunities for local communities. When restrictions were 
relaxed there was a noticeable reduction in the number of visitors using the towpath. 
However, all of the outlying car parks and laybys continue to have significantly higher levels 
of use than before the pandemic.  Before Covid restrictions were eased, there had been a 
large increase in the amount of litter – particularly take-away packaging, wine bottles and 
beer cans – being left in the car parks and picnic sites.  This has eased in recent months. 
 
The Tiverton Canal Co resumed horse-drawn barge trips in mid-July and the Visitor Centre 
was reopened at the same time.  The Visitor Centre doors are being left open to aid 
ventilation and a hand sanitiser dispenser has been fitted at the entrance.  Earlier in the 
year a leaflet dispenser was fitted outside the front door so that visitors could take a copy of 
the Canal Visitor Guide, and this continues to be well-used.  
 

2. Spot dredging on the Swan’s Neck 
 

Boaters and the Canal Rangers had noted in recent years how debris has been building up 
within a quarter mile section of the Canal near the golf course.  This section of the canal 
has not been dredged in decades and being lined with mature oak trees on both sides, 
receives a considerable input of leaves, twigs and acorns each year.   
 
DCC capital funding was secured and a contractor was engaged to spend a week spot 
dredging this section to improve navigation.  In order for a long reach excavator to safely 
access the central channel of the canal, a pontoon system had to be hired in.  Its delivery 
and assembly was captured by a local drone enthusiast who shared the photo below.  

Page 23

Agenda Item 10



Once the pontoon was assembled, the excavator boarded and the weedboat was used to 
push the pontoon for half a mile to the far end of the section being dredged.   
 

 
 
The contractor then spent five days dredging the section, with mud and debris being spread 
on the offside banks.  The work should ensure that this section of canal remains navigable 
for many years until the next full-scale dredging programme takes place.  
 

3. Ash Dieback tree felling 
 

Sadly, the Ash Dieback disease continues to spread through the Country Park’s large stock 
of Ash trees.  Given that most trees along the Canal are within falling distance of the 
towpath or neighbours’ gardens/properties, or are in the high use boating areas, a proactive 
approach to managing the risk to public safety associated with diseased trees has to be 
followed, in line with DCC policy.  

Page 24



Last year, a tree consultant was engaged to survey the Ash trees along the Canal and he 
provided recommendations on prioritising the necessary felling works in order that they are 
undertaken in a timely and cost-effective manner.  Tree surgery contractors have been 
working their way through the recommended felling and in early March completed a 
significant amount of felling in a section near Battens Bridge.   Here all of the Ash trees 
between the Canal and the road were diseased and were felled.  In order to do the work 
safely, a mobile work platform was used.   

 
Once the work was completed, a number of native broadleaf trees were planted as 
replacements, and it is expected that over time, natural regeneration will also lead to new 
trees filling some of the gaps.  Some regrowth may initially emerge from the stumps of the 
felled trees but is expected to die off quite quickly as the disease reasserts itself. Work has 
recommenced in September, with a large Ash opposite The Globe Inn being felled.   
 

4. Towpath scraping 
 
Once a section of towpath has been surfaced, grass starts to grow in from the edges and 
after about 8 – 10 years a depth of soil has begun to accumulate which is then sometimes 
pushed out into the central part of the towpath by the tractor which cuts the banks and 
hedges each winter.  An excavator contractor was engaged to spend a few days each 
March scraping off the mud and grass where it was encroaching most on the towpath.   Not 
only does this provide the full width of the path for people to use, but also makes it easier 
for social distancing to be maintained. The sections scraped this year included: 
 

• A short section to the south of Black Bridge, Burlescombe 

• A section between Westcott Bridge and Ayshford Bridge (photo below, left – note lighter 
shade of the scraped area on right) 

• A section between Battens Bridge and Rock Bridge 

• Sections between Rock Bridge and Greenway Bridge (photo below, centre) 

• Sections between Tiverton Road Bridge and Crownhill Bridge (photo below right) 

Page 25



5. Tree planting 
  
In addition to trees planted as replacements 
for felled ashes, four trees were also planted 
in memory of Jean Hall and Joy Yeates.  
Jean was formerly the Inland Waterways 
Association representative on the JAC and 
she and Joy wrote and illustrated a series of 
booklets about Westcountry waterways, 
including the Grand Western Canal.   
 
The trees include a Field Maple in the Canal 
Basin, a Rowan near Tidcombe Bridge, a 
Hornbeam near Westcott Bridge, and an 
Alder near Ebear Bridge and have been paid 
for by the Westcountry Branch of the Inland 
Waterways Association and some 
individuals.  In June, once Covid restrictions 
on social gatherings had been eased, a 
small ceremony was held to unveil a plaque 
beside the Field Maple in the Canal Basin.   
 
The planting of the tree (which replaces a Rowan blown over by high winds last winter) has 
been welcomed by the Tiverton Canal Co, as the horse appreciates the shade provided by 
a tree next to its corral.  
 

6. Bank protection works at Tiverton Road Car Park 
 
In recent years, sections of the bank at Tiverton Road car park between the bridge hole wall 
and the wharf wall had become undercut and eroded, with some sections (circled red in the 
photo below) collapsing into the canal.  
 

 
 
After looking at various possible solutions, it was decided that recycled plastic piling would 
provide the most long-lasting and cost-effective for of bank protection at this busy location. 

Page 26



A local contractor was engaged to supply and install the piling with the work taking a week 
to complete.  A timber rubbing board was added to prevent boat damage to the capping 
and to protect the paintwork of boats that may rub against the piles.  
 
The piling work left a short but quite steep drop down from car park level to the top of the 
pilings, particularly at the eastern end of the car park.  The Canal Ranger Service was 
concerned that visitors may inadvertently slip down the bank and fall in the canal.  In order 
to prevent this from happening they installed a length of ‘knee rail’ fence, as shown in the 
photo below: 
 

 
 

7. Fishing platforms 
 
Around 20 years ago, four fishing platforms for wheelchair 
and mobility buggy users were installed near Crownhill 
Bridge, Tiverton Road Bridge car park, Greenway Bridge 
and Ebear Bridge.   In recent years they started to rot and 
become unsafe and so plans were made for their 
replacement.  Although off-the-shelf fishing platforms are 
available, they are very expensive and don’t fit the existing 
steel frames.  The Canal Ranger Service therefore 
decided to design new platforms, based loosely on the 
previous design, although this time made with recycled 
plastic boards which should last longer.   
 
Councillors Colin Slade and Ray Radford agreed to pay 
for the cost of the recycled plastic boards from their DCC 
Locality Budgets and the Tiverton and District Angling 
Club kindly agreed to pay for the fixings and hire of a mitre 
saw.  The Canal Rangers and volunteers then built and 
installed the platforms.  

Page 27



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
8. Powerlines and swans 

 
In the last few years, a number of swans 
have flown into the powerlines at the end of 
the Canal Basin.  Following correspondence 
and site visits with the Canal Manager, 
Western Power have bundled the four lines 
which were previously aligned vertically into 
one big thick line.   
 
This provides a much-reduced target area for 
swans to hit and is far more visible.  Two 
poles have also been replaced and relocated 
behind walls to reduce the risk of being hit by 
cars. 
 
The Canal Manager is currently awaiting news of further potential improvements to 
powerlines along the canal – either by bundling or the use of markers - to further reduce the 
risk to swans. 

Page 28



9. Resurfacing under bridges 
 
Over time, puddles have developed in the towpath under several of the Canal’s bridges.  In 
late March a local contractor was engaged to excavate and resurface the towpath 
underneath five of the Canal’s bridges – Manley Bridge, East Manley Bridge, Tiverton Road 
Bridge, Sampford Peverell Bridge and Buckland Bridge.  
 
A mini-digger was used to scrape out the existing surfacing and a mix of 20mm to dust 
limestone scalpings was mixed with cement powder to create a dry mix which was laid and 
compacted.  As a result, the surfacing blends well with the existing towpath on either side of 
the bridge but has set hard and should resist the formation of puddles for many years to 
come.  The photos below show East Manley Bridge before and after the work. 

Having seen that the approach works well, the towpath will be resurfaced in a similar way 
underneath several more bridges this autumn / winter.   
 

10.  Fenacre water transfer system 
 
Progress is being made on this long-running issue. Acting on behalf of Aggregate Industries 
(AI), consultants Wood Plc provided a technical note in June, outlining options based 
around the different hands-off flow levels which could be stipulated by the Environment 
Agency. DCCs hydrological consultant in this matter, Marcus Francis undertook further 
analysis of the modelling and produced a response which was provided to AI at the end of 
July. The reports are detailed and technical in nature (running to 50+ pages) and so have 
not been appended to the JAC agenda pack, but the Canal Manager is happy to share 

Page 29



them by email ahead of the next JAC meeting with any member who requests copies. A 
Zoom meeting has been set up for 29th September during which the respective consultants 
will discuss and agree on the content of the revised EA water abstraction licence 
application. 
 

11.  Vegetation management 
 
Growing conditions have been very good this summer and the Canal Rangers and 
volunteers have spent almost all their time, mowing, strimming and weed-cutting.  The 
Canal Manager has also spent considerably more time than usual assisting with this work 
particularly during the weeks when the Canal Rangers have been on leave, in order to 
ensure that the towpath and canal remain accessible and presentable.  
 
The late start to the horse-drawn barge season this year allowed the bank flailing between 
the Canal Basin and East Manley Bridge to be undertaken several weeks later than usual.  
Unfortunately, the tractor which undertakes this cut got a little too close to the landing stage 
at East Manley Bridge, collapsing the edge of the bank, necessitating some rapid repairs to 
make it safe for the first horse-drawn barge trip a few days later.  
 

12.  Staining benches 
 
Prior to the Easter weekend, the Canal Manager, a Bicton College work experience student 
and his communication assistant took advantage of a spell of dry weather to re-stain the 
seats and benches in the Canal Basin.  The Canal Rangers and volunteers continued this 
work re-staining the new memorial seats with back rests along the towpath in the following 
weeks.  
 

 
 

 
13. Bank erosion repairs 

 
The Canal Rangers and volunteers have continued to repair bank erosion using deltalok 
bags.  These bags have around double the capacity of a standard sandbag are filled with 
soil and some fine grass seed.  They are stacked with spiked plastic plates between each 
layer to hold them together and then covered over with a layer of soil.  Initially the grass 
seed will germinate and help the bags to blend in, but over time the bags will become 
colonised by the wildflowers and grasses present along the canal banks.   

Page 30



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The photos show a hole which was filled in close to Milestone 9, near Burlescombe.  
Several more holes were filled during the spring and this work will recommence during the 
autumn and winter months.  
 

14.  Step, handrail, gate and fence repairs 
 
Repairs have been made to a number of flights of steps 
leading to the towpath.  At Chaves Close in Tiverton, most 
of the existing steps were replaced, and Rangers have also 
repaired steps near Tidcombe Bridge and Fossend Bridge. 
 
Repairs have also been made to the handrail at Waytown 
Tunnel (photo right), where several of the posts were rotting 
at the base.  
 
At Rock Bridge, rotten gateposts, a gate and a length of 
post and rail fence have been replaced on the ramp 
between the road and the towpath. 
 
 

15.  Wilcombe embankment 
 
Following works to protect the embankment beside 
Wilcombe Primary School from damage by badgers, a temporary screening fence was 
installed to restore the privacy of the residents in the properties below.  The hedge has now 
regrown to its previous height, restoring privacy to its previous state and so the screening 
netting has been taken down. 
 
 

Page 31



16. Community Patrol Boat 
 
The Community Patrol Boat returned to the water after 
extensive winter maintenance works on the boat and 
engine.  The crew held a successful meet and greet event 
and are gaining a lot of public support.   
 
The Canal Manager and skipper have liaised to write a new 
risk assessment covering all aspects of their work.  The 
Canal Ranger Service have also provided a defibrillator to 
be carried on board when on patrol.  
 
The crew have purchased a bodycam for personal 
protection and for recording incidents but use of the 
bodycam and storage of the data has to comply with Devon County Council’s data 
protection policies and so lengthy administrative procedures are being followed to ensure 
this compliance before the bodycam is used.  
 

17.  Bridge nameplates 
 
The Canal Rangers have begun a programme of 
repainting / replacing bridge nameplates.  Many 
are corroded and need to be rubbed down and 
repainted.  Several were repainted earlier in the 
spring and this work will continue through the 
winter.    
 
In Sampford Peverell, the Buckland Bridge 
nameplate is missing and the Sampford Peverell Bridge nameplate is badly corroded.  The 
parish council have generously agreed to pay for replacement nameplates and these are 
currently on order.  
 

18.  Boat permits 
 
We continue to see high levels of demand for unpowered boat permits, but there is 
widespread and increasing surprise and annoyance that we don’t have an online 
purchasing option.  Throughout the year, the Canal Manager has been working with DCC 
staff and a company DCC uses for online sales to create an online boat permit purchasing 
facility.  The company currently runs the www.devonpermits.org website, and the option to 
buy unpowered boat permits is being added.   
 
Whilst it may seem like a simple transaction to add, the variety of different permit length and 
discount combinations has been difficult to accommodate within the existing software and 
so it has taken longer than anticipated to develop a system that works effectively.  The 
system will be launched this autumn and anyone buying a permit online will be obliged to 
carry evidence of their permit with them to be checked on request (usually in the form of an 
email on their phone).   
 
The intention is to retain the paper and sticker-based, in-person purchasing of motorised 
boat permits due to the low volume of these sales, the need to check insurance and boat 

Page 32

http://www.devonpermits.org/


safety certificate details, and the benefits of in-person conversations about these 
requirements, slipway arrangements, speed limits etc. 
 

19. Swing Bridge interpretation panel 
 

Following the breach of Swing 
Embankment in 2012, contractors 
undertaking repairs discovered the remains 
of a timber structure in the mud below 
Swing Bridge.  Careful excavation by the 
Canal Ranger team, volunteers and an 
archaeologist revealed it to be an original 
stop gate that would once have been used 
to dam off a section of the canal.  It is 
thought to be the only remaining one on the 
canal and so was carefully documented and then re-covered in mud to preserve it prior to 
the section being rewatered.   
 
A new interpretation panel has been installed to reveal to visitors what is hidden in the 
water below.   

 
20. Trainee Rangers 

 
The Country Park has been successful in securing funding for two Trainee Ranger positions 
through the government’s Kickstart Scheme.  Positions created through the scheme are 
open to 18–24-year-olds on Universal Credit, and last for six months with employees 
working 25 hours per week.   
 
Following advertising, attendance by the Canal Manager at a Job Fayre and interviews, 
Sam Dabner and Alistair Smith have been recruited and started work in mid-September. 
The photo below shows Sam on the left and Ali top right, together with Canal Ranger Jo 
Roberts and long-term volunteer, Craig Snow, having just installed the stop gate panel.  

  
 
 

Page 33

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/kickstart-scheme


As part of the package, they will receive training to secure their chainsaw, brushcutter and 
first aid certificates, and together with the valuable on-the-job experience they will gain, they 
will be in a strong position to pursue a career in countryside management once they have 
completed the six-month term.  
 

21.  Damage in the Canal Basin car park 
 
Two separate vehicle collisions have taken place in the Canal Basin car park in the late 
summer, causing damage to Country Park infrastructure.   
 
On an evening in late July a car crashed into the parapet wall above the Tiverton Borough 
Bowling Club knocking a large section of wall on to the flat roof of the club building below.  
Devon County Council insurance and estates teams are liaising to organise the repair of the 
wall.  The police were informed and responded to this incident.  

 
In mid-September, an unknown vehicle crashed into the litter bin and pay and display 
signage near the public toilets.  The signage was made safe at the time by the Canal 
Ranger Service and they have since reinstalled the posts and signs and replaced the bin. 
 

22.  JAC site visit 
 
The summer JAC site visit was held on the evening of 4th August, and it was a welcome 
opportunity to meet up again in person and to meet new some new members.   
 
Members were given an introduction to the Community Patrol Boat by Skipper Dion Howells 
and discussed how the boat and its crew can be used to address anti-social behaviour.  
Dion also outlined their ambitions to find a secure occasional mooring in Sampford Peverell 

Page 34



to allow them to spend more patrolling the northern half of the canal (since the visit two 
potential mooring locations either side of Sampford Peverell have been identified).  
 
The committee then travelled to Tiverton Road car park where they viewed some of the 
recent works including the plastic piling bank revetment and knee rail fence, resurfacing of 
the towpath under Tiverton Road Bridge and a newly decked fishing platform for wheelchair 
and mobility buggy users.  
 
Finally, the committee visited Sampford Peverell picnic site where they saw the trim trail 
that was installed last year and the new wildflower meadow that was created last year by 
scraping off the topsoil and sowing a wildflower seed mix.   
 

 
 
The Advisory Committee were impressed with how well the wildflowers have established 
and were pleased to be among the first to walk a newly mown path through the orchard.   

Page 35



23.  Meadow cutting 
 
In mid-September, Canal Rangers cut the wildflower meadows at the Sampford Peverell 
community orchard, beside Ebear pond (photo below) and at Bamfylde Close.  All of these 
new wildflower meadows have flowered well this year and will benefit from being cut and 
raked off. 

 
  
We are grateful to the Sampford Peverell tree wardens who volunteered their time to rake 
up the cuttings at the community orchard.   
 
The Canal Manager is beginning to look into the possibility of creating another new 
wildflower meadow on the offside land around William Authers Footbridge.   
 

24.  Notable wildlife sightings 
 
There have been a few notable wildlife sightings reported this summer.  Ray Jones and 
another local birdwatcher both reported a Cetti’s Warbler being heard singing at locations 
half a mile either side of Sampford Peverell. 
This is the first record of this species at the 
Canal. Cetti’s warblers are steadily 
increasing their range in the UK and 
hopefully we will see (or more likely, hear) 
more of them along the canal in future. 
 
Dragonfly sightings have continued to 
include Scarce Chaser and Hairy Dragonfly 
but the highlight this year has been a 
sighting by Ray Jones of a Brown Hawker – 
only the second he has seen at the canal in 
several decades of wildlife watching.  

Page 36

https://www.rspb.org.uk/birds-and-wildlife/wildlife-guides/bird-a-z/cettis-warbler/
https://british-dragonflies.org.uk/species/scarce-chaser/
https://british-dragonflies.org.uk/species/hairy-dragonfly/
https://british-dragonflies.org.uk/species/brown-hawker/


 
A couple of otter sightings have also been reported during the year, most recently a pair 
near Westleigh.  
 

25.  Azolla 
 
The late summer period has seen an outbreak of Azolla (Water Fern), mainly between 
Tiverton Road Bridge and East Manley Bridge.  There are small amounts of this invasive 
non-native weed most years in the edges of the canal, but this year the conditions have 
been right for a more significant outbreak.  The Azolla weevil which has been licenced for 
release for controlling Azolla is now free-living in the UK and has been seen on the Azolla in 
the canal and so it is anticipated that the outbreak will decline through the autumn.  
 

 
 

26.  Countryside Stewardship applications 
 
Much of the Canal Manager’s time this year has been spent on securing Countryside 
Stewardship funding for management works at the Canal and at the two other countryside 
sites in East Devon for which he has responsibility.  The Higher Tier agreements at the East 
Devon sites (Knapp Copse LNR and White Cross picnic site) have entailed much more 
work but have secured the funding and management of the sites for the next five years.  
 
At the Canal, he has been successful in applying for £9k for a range of hedge planting / 
laying, tree planting and bankside tree coppicing works over the next two winters. As all of 
the work will be undertaken by the Canal Rangers and volunteers, much of the funding will 
be spent on other improvements within the Country Park.  
 
 
 
 

Page 37



27.  Fuel Spillage 
 
On 21 September a boater at the East Manley moorings accidentally pumped some diesel 
into the canal.  A fuel leak had led to diesel collecting in the sump of his boat and he had 
started pumping it out believing it was just water.  As soon as he realised it contained diesel 
he stopped and contacted the Canal Rangers via Dion Howells.   
 
The Canal Rangers quickly deployed two absorbent booms across the canal to contain the 
spillage within an 80m section of the canal and put up signs to keep boats from entering the 
section.  

 
 
The Canal Manager contacted the Environment Agency to report the incident and the local 
catchment officer attended in the early afternoon.  She was satisfied that it was not a 
significant spillage and provided advice on the use of absorbent pads to soak up the fuel. 
The Canal Manager also contacted the Angling Club to inform them of the incident.  The 
Rangers spread out dozens of absorbent pads and left them overnight as the EA officer had 
suggested.  By the following morning there was very little sign of any pollution and the pads 
and booms were collected in.  There was no evidence of any harm to fish or other wildlife.  
The boater will be recharged by the EA for their officers’ time and he has also agreed to pay 
for the replacement of the Country Park’s absorbent booms and pads that were used. 
 

28.  Volunteers 
 
During the reporting period the Country Park has benefitted from 158 days work undertaken 
by volunteers.  The Canal Ranger Service intends to resume its winter Volunteer Days on 
the second Sunday of each month from October to March. 
 

29.  Ranger led-visits 
 
School visits led by the Canal Ranger Service have been significantly impacted due to 
covid restrictions. However, the Canal Rangers did lead visits from the Tiverton ACE school 
on 19 July and from the Kingswood summer school on 12 August. 
 

Page 38



Future programme of works 
 
Management tasks 
 

• Get quotes and organise resurfacing of towpath sections as funding allows (William 
Authers Bridge – Tidcombe Bridge? Crownhill Bridge – Tiverton Road Bridge? 
Fossend Bridge – 100m south of Black Bridge?). 

• Organise resurfacing of towpath under remaining bridges with puddles.  

• Complete update of boating regulations and procedures and design/printing of new 
permits book. 

• Liaison with DCC engineers over further repairs to Aqueduct during Oct / Nov. 

• Ongoing work with DCC engineers on Asset Management Plan. 

• Scenario-based test of Emergency Plan. 

• Fenacre water transfer system.  

• Organise an update and reprint of the Canal Visitor Guide. 

• Organise production and installation of a second orientation panel (similar to the one 
on rock beside the steps) to go beside the public toilets for visitors entering at that 
location. 

• Organise update and replacement of the Ebear dragonfly panel.  

• Organise repairs, improvements and updates to Visitor Centre displays. 

• Organise replacement of broken fence and gate at Fenacre Bridge. 

• Organise installation of sign and cleft post and rail fence and gates at Sampford 
Peverell Community Orchard.  

• Organise pruning of trees beside Sampford Peverell tennis court floodlights. 

• Organise and complete Community Safety Scheme Accreditation for Canal Ranger 
Service staff and Community Patrol Boat crew. 

• Organise ongoing Ash Dieback felling works and a range of recommended tree 
management works arising from the tree safety inspection undertaken this summer. 

• Organise towpath scraping works as required. 

• Green Flag award application. 

• Ensure ongoing compliance with all relevant H&S policies / guidelines. 
 
Practical works 
 

• All usual trimming back of overhanging branches and crown-lifting of low branches. 

• Hedge laying / planting, coppicing and tree planting works as specified in 
Countryside Stewardship agreement.  

• Planting of 50 trees along the canal to celebrate the 50th anniversary of the Country 
Park.  

• Ongoing small-scale bank erosion repairs using Deltalok bags. 

• Landing stage extensions in Sampford Peverell. 

• Annual strimming of bridge abutments and trimming of the banks and hedges which 
the flailing contractor cannot access. 
 

 
 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Protocol for remote meetings
	6 Minutes
	9 Terms of Reference and membership review
	10 Progress Report

